
To: James P. Hoffa, IBT General President 
From: Members of the Independent Review Board 
Date: June 2, 2000 
Re: Proposed Charges Against Local 337 President Lawrence 

B. Brennan, Secretary-Treasurer Colonel W. Myers, Vice 
President Robert F. Holmes, Jr., Recording Secretary 
Frank Walker, Trustee Richard Gremaud and former 
Trustee Charles Isom 

I. RECOMMENDATION 

The Independent Review Board ("IRB") refers the below 
report to the General President for the purpose of filing charges 
against the Local 337 officers, including President Lawrence B. 
Brennan ("Brennan")1, Secretary-Treasurer Colonel W. Myers 
("Myers"), Vice President Robert F. Holmes, Jr. ("Holmes") , 
Recording Secretary Frank Walker ("Walker"), Trustee Richard 
Gremaud ("Gremaud") and former Trustee Charles Isom ("Isom") . In 
doing so it should be noted that the Federal Rules of Criminal 
Procedure, Rule 6(e) order entered by the United States District 
Court permits the federal law enforcement agents who interviewed 
Colonel Myers to testify at an IRB hearing but does not authorize 
the agents to testify as to that statement at a union hearing. 
(Ex. 1). Without that testimony, any record will necessarily be 
incomplete. 

Based upon investigation, it appears that the Local 337 
Executive Board misapplied moneys the Local received from 

Brennan is also the President of Joint Council 43. 



members' dues and assessments to promote the candidacy of the 
incumbent Local 337 officers' slate in the 1997 Local Union 337 
Local Officer Rerun Election, and schemed to disguise this 
conduct through apparently legitimate bonuses and raises, in 
violation of Article II, Section 2(a) and Article XIX, Sections 
7(b)(1), (2) and (3) of the IBT Constitution. 
II. INTRODUCTION 

Local 337, located in Detroit, Michigan, has 
approximately eight thousand members. Local 337 represents 
workers in the fields of meat purveyors, produce markets, vending 
machines, food warehouses, steel and scrap companies and nursing. 

A. Lawrence Brennan 

Lawrence B. Brennan, date of birth July 26, 1930, is a 
member of Local 337. Brennan joined Local 337 in 1946, and with 
the exception of several gaps in service while a student, has 
remained a member of Local 337 to the present. From 1950 to 1957 
Brennan worked for the Retail Clerks in the AFL-CIO. From 1957 
to the present, Brennan has been an organizer or an employee of 
Joint Council 43 and of Local 337. Brennan has served as a 
Trustee, Vice President and President of the Local. Brennan has 
been President for at least the last twelve years. Brennan also 
is the President of Joint Council No. 43, which is located in the 
same building as Local 337. 

B. Colonel W. Myers 

Colonel W. Myers, date of birth July 24, 1937, is a 
member of Local 337. Myers joined Local 337 in February 1956. 
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Myers is the Secretary-Treasurer and has held this elected 
position since June 1990. 

C. Robert P. Holmes, Jr. 

Robert F. Holmes, Jr., date of birth October 11, 1935, 
is a member of Local 337. Holmes joined Local 337 in April 1958. 
Initially employed for two years with Joint Council 43, he became 
employed at Local 337 as a Business Representative in 1960. 
Holmes served as a Trustee of Local 337 from 1968 to 1975, 
Recording Secretary from 1975 to 1980, and Secretary-Treasurer 
from 1986 to 1990, when he was not re-elected. Holmes worked for 
the International for approximately two years before returning to 
Local 337 as a part-time employee. Holmes has been the Vice 
President of Local 337 since 1992. 

D. Frank Walker 

Frank Walker, date of birth February 8, 1937, is a 
member of Local 337. Walker joined Local 337 in 1957. He was 
employed in 1974 as an organizer with both Joint Council 43 and 
Local 337. His first position with Local 337 was as a Business 
Representative. Thereafter he was elected Trustee. Walker has 
been the Local 337 Recording Secretary for approximately si;: 
years. 

E. Richard Gremaud 

Richard Gremaud, date of birth October 14, 1938, is a 
member of Local 337. Gremaud joined Local 1088 in November 1973 
and transferred, as a Business Representative, into Local 337 
when it merged with Local 1088 in June 1975. He was first elected 



a Trustee of Local 337 about 15 years ago. 
F. Charles Isom 

Charles Isom, date of birth January 3, 1935, is a 
member of Local 337 on withdrawal card. Isom joined Local 337 in 
October 1957 and became a Business Representative in March 1970. 
He was elected a Trustee of Local 337 in 1989, and served in that 
position until his retirement in December 1998.2 

III. JURISDICTION 

Pursuant to Article XIX, Section 11(a) of the IBT 
Constitution, this disciplinary matter is within the jurisdiction 
of the General President. Because key witnesses will not be 
available to testify before a union panel, the General President 
may consider, as in the past, referring the matter for a hearing 
before the IRB. 
IV. INVESTIGATIVE FINDINGS 

A. The 1995 Local Officer Election 

Throughout 1996, the Local 337 Executive Board believed 
that the IBT General Executive Board ("GEB") would order a rerun 
of the 1995 Local 337 Local Officer election. In the 1995 local 
officer election, approximately 2,664 of the more than 8,400 
members of Local 337 voted. The incumbent officers running on 

2 Under Article XIX, Section 1(g) of the IBT Constitution, 
charges may be preferred against a member who has been issued a 
withdrawal card. 
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the Brennan slate won reelection (Ex. 2) .3 The largest margin 
of victory for any position was 282 votes (10.6% of the total 
vote) for the winning candidate for President and the smallest 
margin was 197 votes (7.4% of the total vote) for the winning 
candidate for one of the Trustee positions. 

On October 6, 1995, the opposing Jordan slate filed 
protests with Joint Council 43. In March 1996, Joint Council 43 
denied the protests from the Jordan slate. (Id.). Pursuant to 
the IBT Constitution, the Joint Council decision was appealed to 

3 The final results of the election were as follows: 

Office Candidate Total Percentage Margin 

President Brennan* 
Jordan 

1473 
1191 

55. 3 
44.7 

282 

Vice 
President 

Holmes* 
Robinson 

1434 
1221 

53.8 
45.8 

213 

Secretary 
Treasurer 
Recording 
Secretary 
Trustees 

Myers* 
Bradley 
Walker* 
Gearin 
Spencer* 
Gremaud* 
Isom* 
Horner 
Iho 
Ledwidge 

1446 
1213 
1431 
1227 
1455 
1445 
1411 
1214 
1210 
1203 

54 . 3 
45.5 
53 . 7 
46.1 
54 
54 , 
53 , 
45, 
45 , 
45. 

233 

204 

197 

* Denotes incumbent candidate and member of Brennan slate. 
2) . 

(EX. 
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the IBT General Executive Board ("GEB") . IBT Constitution, Art. 
XXII, § 5(b). 

B. Executive Board Actions Regarding Bonuses 
and Salary Increase 

In April and in early October 1996, the Local 337 
Executive Board took three steps to increase the gross income of 
officers and business representatives for that year. First, on 
April 15, 1996, it voted a bonus described as being in lieu of a 
wage increase (the "in-lieu-of-increase bonus") which was payable 
in two parts. Second, in October the Board increased the annual 
Christmas Bonus from the 2-1/2 weeks pay that had been awarded in 
previous years to five weeks pay. Third, at the same time the 
board also authorized a salary increase of one hundred dollars 
per week, commencing October 18, 1996. (Exs. 3 and 4).4 

On April 21, 1996, the minutes of the April 15, 1996 
Executive Board meeting reflecting the approval of the in-lieu-
of-increase bonus were read at the membership meeting. (Ex. 8). 5 

4 The in-lieu-of-increase bonus payments were not made in June 
and December, as the minutes stated. These bonus payments were 
made in August and in late November 1996. (Exs. 5, 6 and 7). 

5 The Local 337 Executive Board had approved an annual in-
lieu-of-increase bonus in each year from 1989 through 1996. (Ex. 
9). The amount of the in-lieu-of-increase bonus from 1993 to 1996 
followed a pattern. The officers and business representatives 
received the following gross in-lieu-of-increase payments: 

1993: $5,300 
1994: $6,600 
1995: $5,300 
1996: $7,400 

In March 1997, the Local 337 Executive Board discontinued the in-
lieu-of-increase bonus. 
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The minutes of the April 21, 1996 general membership meeting also 
reflected that Brennan disclosed that rumors had been circulating 
that Local 337 would be forced to have another officers' 
election. He asserted that then IBT General President Ron Carey 
wanted to destroy Local 337. (Id.). No member of the Board 
indicated any contrary position. From this it can be inferred 
that the Local 337 Executive Board believed the GEB would 
overturn the Joint Council's decision and order a rerun election. 

On August 15, 1996, the first payment of $2,500 of the 
in-lieu-of-increase bonus was made to each Executive Board member 
and to seven business representatives. (Ex. 5). On August 16, 
1996, the Executive Board voted for the second time to allow 
Secretary-Treasurer Myers to withdraw money from the Local's 
general fund to pay semi-annual bonuses in lieu of a wage 
increase (Ex. 10). On September 15, 1996, the minutes of the 
Local 337 Executive Board meeting of August 16, 1996 reflecting 
this authorization were read at the membership meeting. (Ex. 
11) . 

C. The Ordering of the Rerun Election 

On October 2, 1996, the IBT GEB voted to affirm in part 
and reverse in part the Joint Council 43 Decision denying the 
protest. It ordered Local 337 to rerun its election of officers. 
(Ex. 12). On October 4, 1996, the Local 337 Executive Board 
voted to double the Christmas Bonus from the traditional 2-1/2 
weeks pay to five weeks pay, payable on December 6, 1996. (Ex. 
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4) .6 In addition, at the same meeting, the Executive Board voted 
to grant a salary increase of $100 per week to all officers and 
representatives effective October 18, 1996. (Id.). 

On October 9, 1996, then IBT Secretary-Treasurer Tom 
Sever ("Sever") notified Local 337 in writing of the GEB's 
October 2, 1996 decision to order a rerun election of the 1995 
Local 337 officer election. (Ex. 12). There is no direct 
evidence to establish any Local officer had notice of this GEB 
decision prior to receipt of this written notification. (See, 
e.g., Exs. 12 and 14-20).7 However, the Local 337 Executive 
Board would have known that the GEB Meetings were held on a 
quarterly basis. Since the Jordan protests appeal was not heard 
at the June 1996 GEB Meeting, the appeal was likely to be heard 
at the September 1996 GEB Meeting. 

6 On October 4, 1996, the Department of Labor issued the 
reasons statement for its determination that the Jordan protest 
did not provide a basis for instituting legal action to set aside 
the election. (Ex. 13). 

7 Following the January 1999 sworn examinations, counsel for 
Local 337 provided copies of the pre-meeting agenda dated 
September 24, 1996 and September 25, 1996 for the September 30-
Octuber 2, 1996 IBT General Executive Board Meeting (the 
"September GEB Meeting") which was in the Local's possession. 
The pre-meeting list of election appeals to be heard at the 
September GEB Meeting did not list the Local 337 election appeal. 
The copies were provided to Local 337 by GEB member and Local 407 
officer Sam Theodus. The facsimile legend at the top of the page 
reflected that the pre-meeting agenda was sent to Local 337 on 
October 2, 1996 at 10:26 a.m., the day the GEB decided to reverse 
the Joint Council Decision and order a rerun election. (Exs. 15 
and 16). 

The actual agenda and minutes of the September GEB 
Meeting reflected that the Local 337 election appeal was the 
second item on the October 2, 1996 meeting, which began at 9:22 
a.m. (Exs. 18 and 19). 
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On October 20, 1996, the minutes of the Local 337 
Executive Board October 4 meeting reflected both the Christmas 
Bonus increase and the $100 per week salary increase were read to 
and accepted by the members at the general membership meeting. 
(Ex. 21).8 At the same meeting, Brennan disclosed to the members 
that the Local would lose approximately 600 members that year. 
(Id.). 

On October 31, 1996, Local 337 reguested the GEB to 
reconsider and reverse its decision in light of the Department of 
Labor's Reasons Statement. (Ex. 24). On November 5, 1996, 
counsel for Local 337 filed a complaint with the Department of 
Labor reguesting an investigation of the GEB's decision to rerun 
the Local 337 officer election. (Ex. 25). On November 12, 1996, 
the Department of Labor ruled the complaint was premature because 
it failed to comply with certain LMRDA requirements regarding 
exhaustion or invocation of internal union remedies. (Ex. 26). 

On November 15, 1996, the IBT ordered the rerun 
election to be scheduled. Ballots were to be mailed on December 
10, 1996. (Ex. 27). On November 20, 1996, at a Special Called 
Executive Beard Meeting, the Local 337 Executive Board voted to 
allow Secretary-Treasurer Myers to withdraw $200,000 from the 
Local Union Savings Account to pay for "Christmas bonuses and 
other expenditures including the rerun election of officers of 

8 In addition, all the salary increases were disclosed on the 
Form LM-2 the Local filed in 1997 for calendar year 1996. 
(Compare Ex. 2 2 with Ex. 23). 
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Local 337." (Ex. 28).9 

D. The Financing of the Incumbents' Slate Campaign 

Expenses For the Rerun Election — The Defense Fund 

In sworn IRB examination testimony, several Local 337 
officers and business representatives referred to the existence 
of a Local 337 Defense Fund. They described the Defense Fund as 
a source for payment of the campaign expenses of the incumbent 
Brennan Slate in the 1997 Local 337 officer Rerun Election, and 
other miscellaneous expenses. They testified that they 
contributed twenty dollars per week to the Defense Fund and that, 
in addition, in 1996 they each contributed $2,000 for the Brennan 
slate's expenses in the rerun election. The slate had just been 
through an election for which it had campaign expenses in 1995. 

1. En Masse Cashing of the November 1996 In-Lieu-of-
Increase Bonus Checks and Christmas Bonus Checks 

On November 25, 1996, the Local made the second in-
lieu-of-increase payments and the increased Christmas Bonus 
payments to the officers and business representatives. (Exs. 6 
and 7). 10 Myers, the Secretary-Treasurer of Local 337, 
testified in 1998 before the Election Officer that, with the 
exception of the Chiistmas Bonus checks for Business 

9 The authorized withdrawal covered the costs of the second 
part of the in-lieu-of-increase bonus, the Christmas Bonus and 
the Local's costs for the rerun election. 

10 The minutes of the Executive Board Meetings provided that 
payment of the second in-lieu-of-increase bonus was to be made in 
December (Ex. 3) and payment of the Christmas Bonus was to be 
made on December 6, 1996. (Ex. 4). In 1994 and 1995, the in-
lieu-of-increase payments were made in the middle of December. 
(Exs. 29-30). 

10 



Representatives H. R. Hillard ("Hillard") and Michael Martin 
("Martin")11, he took all the Christmas Bonus checks and the in-
lieu-of-increase checks to the National Bank of Detroit branch in 
Dearborn, Michigan.12 For each check cashed, the teller placed 
the cash in separate envelopes bearing each payee's name; as a 
result there were two envelopes for each officer. Myers brought 
the envelopes back to the Local 337 offices. He then gave Carlow 
Scalf ("Scalf") the in-lieu-of-increase checks proceeds for 
distribution. (Ex. 31 at 121). In contrast, Myers gave the 
Christmas Bonus checks proceeds to the Local's administrative 
secretary for distribution. 13 Even Myers, despite having had 
possession of his envelope from the bank, did not receive his in-
lieu-of-increase money until Scalf gave it back to him after 
Myers had given it to Scalf with the other envelopes. Myers in 
his separate testimony taken by the Election Officer and the IRB 
denied that there was an arrangement whereby Scalf was to be 
given cash from the bonus proceeds which Scalf distributed. 
Myers had no explanation as to why Scalf distributed the cash for 

11 Hillard and Martin had taken their Christmas Bonus checks 
and deposited them into their individual accounts. 

12 The officers and business representatives received both 
the in-lieu-of-increase bonus and the Christmas Bonus.. Four 
other employees of Local 337 received the Christmas Bonus only. 

13 Myers testified differently at his 1999 IRB sworn 
examination. Myers testified that he gave both the envelopes 
containing the in-lieu-of-increase bonus proceeds and those 
containing the Christmas Bonus proceeds to Scalf. (Ex. 32 at 
24) . 
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the in-lieu-of-increase bonus money and the secretary distributed 
the cash for the Christmas Bonus. 14 

Scalf testified that he had been a member of the 
Teamsters since 1965 and transferred into Local 337 in 1992 from 
Local 243 when he became an assistant to the President. (Ex. 34 
at 6-7). Scalf left that position on July 31, 1998. At the time 
of his sworn examination on January 28, 1999, Scalf was a member 
of the Hoffa transition team. (Id. at 8). According to both 
Scalf and Myers, Brennan had designated Scalf as the person to 
hand out the proceeds from the second in-lieu-of- increase and 
the Christmas Bonus checks. (Ex. 35 at 23; Ex. 32 at 23-24). 
Scalf stated the envelopes had each individual's name on them and 
were sealed when he gave them out. (Ex. 34 at 24).15 

14 As set forth below in Section IV(H) , in his interview with 
federal agents, Myers indicated that the checks for one half of 
the 1996 in-lieu-of-increase bonus were used to finance the 
campaign of the incumbents on the Brennan slate in the rerun 
election. (Ex. 33). According to the agents' summary, bonus 
checks in the amount of $2,000 each were endorsed by the 
respective payees and cashed by Myers and another business 
representative. Myers gave the cash proceeds of those checks to 
Scalf, who handled the campaign expenses. (Id.). 

15 At his 1999 IRB sworn examination, Scalf testified that it 
was not unusual for him to distribute check proceeds at the Local 
337 offices. Scalf testified that he had distributed the 
proceeds from the weekly paychecks to Local 337 officers, 
business representatives and clerical workers on many occasions. 
(Ex. 34 at 41). He testified that the Local employees routinely 
had their weekly payroll checks cashed by a fellow employee and 
that he would distribute them when he was around the office. (Id. 
at 41-42). At his 1999 sworn examination, Brennan testified that 
he and others, including Scalf, distributed the proceeds of the 
weekly payroll checks to Local 337 officers and employees. (Ex. 
36 at 38). 
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2. The Lump Sum Cash Contribution to the Defense 
Fund for the Incumbent Slate Executive Board 
Expenses 

With one exception, each officer and business 
representative testified that they contributed $20 per week in 
addition to a lump sum of at least $2,000 in 1996 to the Defense 
Fund to cover expenses for the incumbents' slate in the rerun 
election. In sworn IRB examinations, five business 
representatives testified that they had made their $2,000 
contributions to the campaign fund in whole or in part upon 
receipt of the November 1996 in-lieu-of-increase or of the 
Christmas Bonus16; four business representatives testified that 
they made the $2,000 contribution around the time of the November 
1996 bonus payments'7; two business representatives stated they 
made their $2,000 contribution after receipt of the November 1996 
bonuses18; and three others, including Brennan and Myers, claimed 
they made their contributions as early as July or August 1996." 
One representative did not contribute. 

3. The Absence of Defense Fund Records 

Scalf started managing the Defense Fund in 1995. Scalf 
testified that the Defense Fund records for the rerun election 

16 Jerry Bliss, Richard Gremaud, Robert Holmes, Norbert Ryan 
and Reno Mifsud. 

17 Robert Barnes, Charles Isom, Michael Townsend and Michael 
Martin. 

18 Frank Walker and Harry Brooks. 
19 Lawrence Brennan, Colonel Myers and Car low Scalf. 
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contained the names of the people who had donated money each week 
and how the money was spent. Scalf shredded these records in the 
middle of 1997. (Ex. 34 at 15 , 54).20 Scalf said the money was 
spent for telephone bills, rent and campaign materials.21 (Ex. 
34 at 15-17). On July 31, 1998, when he left the employ of Local 
337, Scalf turned over the current Defense Fund cash to Brennan. 
Scalf claimed to have kept no records for the Defense Fund from 
the middle of 1997 until he left in 1998. (Id. at 14, 55). 

Scalf further testified that he never deposited the 
money raised to assist the campaign for the local election into a 
checking account because he was afraid of having it seized: 

It was all cash. We couldn't deposit anything 
because we were afraid any minute that Carey was 
going to come trustee us and take everything we 
had, and so we lived in fear.... 

(Id. at 17). Since, according to Scalf's descriptions, the 
Defense Fund was not Local money and would not have been a Local 
asset deposited in a Local account, the IBT could not have seized 
it. The IBT could not seize Local officers' personal or non-
union accounts. Scalf's explanation for not having a bank 
account is unpersuasive and misleading. 

Scalf also claimed that although he kept records at the 
time, he did not retain any records after the election was over 

20 Law enforcement agents interviewed Myers concerning the 
rerun election donations in June 1997. (Ex. 33). 

21 Local 337 Vice President Holmes identified Claremont 
Printing as the vendor for printing of campaign materials. (Ex. 
37) . 

14 



because he no longer needed them. There were no documents to 
confirm the amount of money contributed, how much money was paid 
out from the Defense Fund or what expenses the Defense Fund paid. 
Moreover, since Scalf did not maintain a bank account for the 
Defense Fund, records from a third party were unavailable. 
Scalf's explanation for not retaining records is also 
unpersuasive. He was under no duty to keep records with respect 
to the election but he did need to be able to explain to the fund 
donors where their money went. The Fund pre-existed the rerun 
election and given past practice would have continued to exist 
after the rerun election. (Ex. 34 at 9, 10, 15 and 55). From the 
failure to maintain these records it may be inferred that Scalf 
knew that these records would reveal something improper related 
to the Local election campaign. 

E. The Rerun Election 

On November 27, 1996, Local 337 sought an injunction in 
federal court in Michigan forbidding the holding of the rerun 
election. (Ex. 14) ,22 On December 5, 1996, the district court 
issued a preliminary injunction which, on December 16, 1996, the 
court dissolved, effective December 30, 1996. (Exs. 38-39). 

On December 27, 1996, the IBT scheduled the rerun 

22 Local 337 President Brennan executed a verification to 
these pleadings. (Ex. 14 at 15). The verified complaint does not 
state when Local 337 first received or otherwise became aware of 
the GEB Decision. Instead, the complaint stated that 
"[purportedly, on October 2, 1996 (although it was not sent to 
the parties until October 9)... the GEB decided to sustain 
Jordan's appeal and order an immediate rerun of the Local 337 
officers election...." (Id. at page 7, ?18). 

15 



election dates. (Ex. 40). On January 8, 1997, the Notice of 
Election was mailed to the Local 337 membership. On Friday, 
January 17, 1997, ballots were mailed to the Local 337 members. 
(Exs. 40-41). 

In January 1997, the rerun election was conducted. The 
Brennan slate won reelection by greater margins than in the 
initial election. Each of the candidates on the Brennan slate 
received more than sixty per cent of the 2,865 ballots counted, 
and the smallest margin of victory was 785 votes. (Ex. 42) . 23 

F. Brennan's Unilateral Termination of the 
$100 Per Week Pay Raise 

As of January 17, 1997, the date of the mailing of the 

23 The February 1997 final tally for the Local 337 Officer 
Election was as follows: 
Office 
President 

Candidate 
Brennan* 
Jordan 

Vote 
1867 
988 

Percentage 
65.1 
34 . 5 

Margin 
879 

Vice 
President 

Holmes* 
Robinson 

1815 
1021 

63 .4 
35.6 

794 

Secretary 
Treasurer 
Recording 
Secretary 
Trustees 

Myers* 
Bradley 
Walker* 
Gearin 
Spencer* 
Gremaud* 
Isom* 
Horner 
Iho 

1820 
1018 

1811 
1026 

1866 
1833 
1831 
1032 
1027 

63 . 5 
35.5 
63 . 2 
35 . 8 
65.1 
64 . 0 
63 .9 
36.0 
35.8 

802 

785 

799 

* Denotes member of Brennan slate, (Ex. 42) 
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ballots for the rerun election, Brennan had unilaterally 
rescinded, in violation of the Local Bylaws, the $100 per week 
pay raise which the Local 337 Executive Board had approved on 
October 4, 1996. (Exs. 3, 43 and 44 at 50). Under the Bylaws, 
Executive Board approval was needed for the rescission. Local 
337 Bylaws, Section 13(A)(2). None was obtained. Brennan 
asserted that he rescinded the raise due to a substantial 
reduction in membership in the months following October 1996. 24 

Ascertaining the number of members Local 337 lost 
during the period October through December 1996 is difficult. 
The Local's 1996 computerized Employer List is no longer 
available, having been replaced by subsequent editions.25 In 
October 1996, when the Executive Board approved the $100 per week 
pay raise, Brennan was predicting a loss of 600 members. In 
January 1997 Brennan stated that the Local had lost approximately 
700 members. The minutes of the January membership meeting do 

24 According to Brennan, Local 337 lost between 500 and 800 
members during 1996: 400 members when Eckrich moved to another 
state; 130 members when Prince Macaroni went out of business; 80 
to 100 members from Supreme Sales; and 75 to 100 members from 
Handelman Drugs. (Ex. 36 at 35-36). Local 337 Business 
Representatives Gremaud, Hillard and Ryan also testified as to 
their belief that a loss of membership was a reason why the $100 
per week salary increase was stopped. (Ex. 45 at 23-24, Ex. 46 
at 21, Ex. 47 at 11). On October 20, 1996, Brennan had advised 
the members that the Local would lose 600 members that year. 
(Ex. 48). 

25 The listing of collective bargaining agreements between 
employers and Local 337 maintained by the International in 
January 1998 reflected that Peter Eckrich (more than 300 
members), Prince Macaroni (120 members) and Handelman (122 
members) were inactive employers who at one time had contracts 
with Local 337. (Ex. 49). 
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not reveal the time period to which Brennan was referring. (Ex. 
50) . 

The LM-2s the Local filed for 1995, 1996 and 1997 
reflected a net loss of 258 members from December 1995 to 
December 1996 and a net loss of an additional 168 members from 
December 1996 to December 1997. (Exs. 22, 23 and 51). However, 
they provided no direct evidence of the exact number of members 
Local 337 lost between October 1996 and early January 1997, which 
loss the board would not have anticipated when they voted the 
raise and increased bonus in October. 

G. Post Rerun Election Executive Board Action 
Regarding Bonuses 

On March 19, 1997, the Local 337 Executive Board 
terminated both the in-lieu-of-increase bonus and the Christmas 
Bonus for business representatives. (Ex. 52). On October 1, 
1997, the Local 337 Executive Board restored a Christmas Bonus to 
the officers and business representatives in the pre-1996 measure 
of 2-1/2 weeks pay (Exs. 53 and 43). 

H. Disclosure of the Government Investigative 
Document 

On October 12, 1999, United States District Judge Nancy 
G. Edmunds ("Judge Edmunds") of the United States District Court 
for the Eastern District of Michigan issued an order authorizing 
disclosure to the IRB of portions of a memorandum that 
memorialized an interview of Secretary-Treasurer Myers conducted 
on June 6, 1997 by agents of the Department of Labor and the 
Federal Bureau of Investigation. (Exs. 54 and 33). This 
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interview was conducted less than six months after the Local 337 
Local Officer rerun election and more than eight months before 
the depositions the Election Officer and the Chief Investigator 
conducted the following year. The portion of the interview 
disclosed consisted of six paragraphs on two pages from a three-
page memorandum. (Ex. 33). 

On March 24, 2000, Judge Edmunds issued a second 
disclosure order. (Ex. 1). This order authorized Special Agent 
Paul Russo of the Federal Bureau of Investigation and former 
Special Agent Craig Woodhouse of the Department of Labor 
to testify before the Independent Review Board regarding the 
portion of the Myers interview on June 6, 1997 which it 
previously ordered could be disclosed to the IRB. The order 
limited the authorization to testify to testimony before the 
Independent Review Board. (Id.). 

The agents' memorandum of interview repeated that Myers 
admitted the $100 per week salary increase in October 1996 was 
unplanned because initially the in-lieu-of-increase bonus was to 
have served as a substitute for a pay raise. Events overtook 
that and Myers explained that the pay raise, which continued for 
three or four months, was intended to replace the one half of the 
in-lieu-of-increase payment that the Local officers and business 
representatives were reguired to donate to finance the rerun 
election campaign. (Id.). Corroboration for this admission is 
discussed below in Section V. 

Myers' subseguent sworn testimony at his IRB deposition 
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conflicted with his prior -interview statement. Myers testified 
under oath that there was no connection between the Local 337 
Executive Board members' approval of either the in-lieu-of-
increase payment or the $100 per week salary increase and the 
funding of the local officer rerun election campaign. In 
addition, all members of the Executive Board and Local 337 
business representatives who received the bonuses denied any 
connection among the in-lieu-of-increase payment, the $100 per 
week salary increase and the increased Christmas Bonus in 1996 
and a contribution to the Local Union election campaign.26 

In his June 6, 1997 agent interview, Myers described 
the second in-lieu-of-increase payment as directly connected to 
the financing of the Local 337 rerun election. Myers indicated 
that the proceeds from the checks for the second half of the 1996 
bonus amount were used to finance the campaign of the incumbents 
in the Local 337 officer rerun election. (Ex. 33). According to 
Myers' interview statements, bonus checks in the amount of $2,000 
each were endorsed by the respective payees. Myers and another 
business representative, Norbert Ryan, cashed them. Myers then 
gave this cash to Scalf. (Id.). Myers further stated to the 
agents that the $100 weekly raise was also connected to the 

26 See Ex. 55 at 22, 31, 34 ; Ex. 45 at 8-9, 20-21, 22-23; Ex. 
56 at 12-13, 15, 17-20, 23, 27, 29-30; Ex. 47 at 12-13,15-16, 19-
20, 24; Ex. 57 at 9-10, 12-13, 17-18, 21-22, 25-26; Ex. 58 at 7-
9, 12, 14; Ex. 59 at 9-11, 14-15, 18-21, 23; Ex. 60 at 10-11, 
13-14, 16, 21, 23, 25, 28-29; Ex. 61 at 13, 15-16, 17; Ex. 62 at 
12-15, 17-18, 24-26, 29-30, 31-33; Ex. 63 at 7-8, 11, 17-18; Ex. 
64 at 12-13, 15-16, 19-20, 24; Ex. 34 at 18-19, 21-22, 25-26, 29-
30, 34-35, 43-45; Ex. 32 at 12-15, 17-18, 31-32, 41-42; Ex. 36 at 
12-13, 15-16, 19, 23-24, 26, 34-35; Ex. 46 at 8-9, 14-16, 19-20. 
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financing of the incumbent slate's rerun election expenses; it 
was intended to replace the one half of the bonus which was 
reguired to be contributed to finance the rerun election. (Id.). 

I. Inferences From the Evidence 

The above circumstantial evidence supports an inference 
that the Local 337 Executive Board members used Local assets 
improperly passed through them as bonuses and a salary increase 
for their personal election campaigns in the Local 337 rerun 
election. Some of this evidence includes the payment of the 
second portion of in-lieu-of-increase bonuses in 1996. This 
payment occurred weeks earlier than payment of the in-lieu-of-
increase bonus payment in prior years and earlier than the 
December payment the Executive Board authorized. (Exs. 3 and 
6)27 With regard to the payment date of the second portion of 
the in-lieu-of—increase bonus, the April 15, 1996 Executive 
Board Meeting Minutes provided that the "other half would be 
given in December...." (Ex. 3). The second in-lieu-of-increase 
bonus payment was made on November 25, 1996. (Ex. 6). This 
change from both the prior practice and the disregarding of the 
authorized payment date supported an inference that the need for 
campaign contributions and the accelerated second in-lieu-of-
increase bonus payment were linked. In addition, the 
unprecedented, one-time-only doubling of the Christmas Bonus, 

27 The Local instituted the in-lieu-of-increase bonus in 1989. 
The Local paid this bonus in the month of December for each year 
from 1989 through 1995. Only in 1996, the year in guestion, was 
the bonus paid in August and November. In March 1997, the Local 
337 Executive Board discontinued the in lieu of bonus. 
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accompanied with the short-lived $100 weekly salary increase also 
support the inference that the Board members were trying to 
recoup for themselves and the business representatives the 
diversion of the second in-lieu-of-increase bonus to the 
incumbents' campaign expense fund.28 

The actions of the Executive Board members in 
increasing their salaries and those of the business 
representatives suspiciously contrasted with subseguent actions. 
In January 1997, Brennan in violation of the Bylaws unilaterally 
terminated the $100 per week salary increase. In 1997, the 
Executive Board returned the amount of the Christmas Bonus to the 
long standing pre-1996 measure and eliminated the in-lieu-of-
increase bonus. 

J. The Executive Board's Arguments 

Counsel for the executive board argued that the 
Election Officer's "surmise" that the Local 337 Executive Board 
adopted the 1996 compensation increases for the purpose of 
funding the officers rerun election campaign was unsupported by 
any evidence of an improper linkage between the contribution and 
the 1996 increases examined. Counsel argued that despite already 
having awarded themselves a bonus in lieu of a salary increase in 
1996 the board's subseguent authorization of a salary increase in 
October 1996 was not unusual. They argued that the Local had a 
pattern of increasing salaries every three to four years, despite 

28 Counsel's argument that because not every business 
representative made a lump sum contribution to the Defense Fund 
is discussed below in Section V (J)(4). 
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the in-lieu-of-increase bonuses given in those years. Counsel 
further argued that there was no evidence that the Executive 
Board acted with either a fraudulent intent to deprive the union 
of its funds or in the absence of a good faith belief that the 
expenditures in question were for the legitimate benefit of the 
Local Union.29 

1. Whether the timing of the bonus payments 
was authorized 

One of the issues regarding the bonuses was whether the 
Christmas Bonus was paid earlier in 1996 than it was authorized 
to be paid. Counsel's submission reflected that, with the 
exception of 1995 and 1996 when they were paid in November30, the 
Christmas Bonuses for 1984 through 1997 were paid in the month of 
December. In 1996 there was a specified payment date of December 
6, 1996. (Ex. 4). In 1996, unlike 1995, the bonus was paid 
earlier than a specified authorization date. This irregularity 
which benefitted only the board members and agents, supports an 
inference that the bonus increase was meant to replace the money 
previously used to make the donation. 

Counsel's submission acknowledged that the 1996 
doubling of the Christmas Bonus was the first change in the 

29 Local counsel did not have access to Secretary-Treasurer 
Myers' interview memorandum at the time they presented these 
arguments. 

30 Unlike 1996, the Local 3 37 Executive Board Meetings minutes 
for October 17, 1995 and November 10, 1995, did not set forth the 
specific month when the Christmas Bonus was to be paid. 
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Christmas Bonus formula since 1985 and was unprecedented. (Ex. 
9). Of course, without changing the formula every salary 
increase also increased the bonus, so there had been changes in 
the amount received. (Id.). After the rerun election, the 
Christmas Bonus returned to its pre-1996 measure. 

2. Whether the 1996 compensation increases were 
approved before Local 337 received notice that a 
rerun election would occur in 1997 

Counsel also argued that as of October 4, 1996, when 
the Local's Executive Board approved the doubling of the 
Christmas Bonus and the $100 per week salary increase, it had not 
received notice that the GEB had ordered a rerun election. (Ex. 
65 at 7-8). 

This claimed lack of notice is a red herring. From 
Spring 1996 forward it was evident that the Local's board 
believed there would be a rerun election. The minutes of the 
April 21, 1996 general membership meeting reflected that Brennan 
announced that rumors had been circulating that Local 337 would 
be forced to have another officers' election. In connection with 
this, Brennan publicly contended then IBT General President Ron 
Carey wanted to destroy Local 337 . (Fx. 8).31 From this it can 
be inferred that the Local Executive Board assumed the GEB would 
overturn the Joint Council's decision and order a rerun election. 
There was no direct evidence that the Board members knew of the 

31 A similar view of imminent action by the General President 
against the Local's incumbents was given by Scalf as his reason 
for not depositing the Defense Fund donations in a bank account. 
(Ex. 34). 
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GEB decision of October 2, 1996 by their meeting on October 4, 
1996. However, they were aware of when GEB meetings were held 
and that the Jordan slate had appealed the Joint Council election 
to the GEB. The GEB previously had requested the transcripts and 
exhibits of the Joint Council proceedings on the election 
protests. (Ex. 66). 

Unlike the in-lieu-of-increase bonus, which had 
occurred in the past, both the doubling of the Christmas Bonus 
and the $100 per week raise were unusual. The formula for the 
Christmas Bonus had remained the same since 1985. The salary 
increase was the second salary increase voted since the in-lieu-
of-increase bonus pattern had originated in 1989. These 
increases were voted on when the Local 337 Executive Board was on 
notice that the appeal from the Jordan protests, which could 
result in a rerun election, was pending before the GEB. 

The timing of these unusual steps supports the 
conclusion they were designed to replace the donations from the 
bonus to the campaign fund. Thus, the board dipped into Local 
funds twice, once for donations disguised as bonuses and then for 
added unplanned, short term increase and increased holiday bonus 
to replace the bonus. There is no persuasive explanation for the 
termination in early 1997 of the raise and the return in 1997 to 
the longstanding formula for determining a bonus. The 
termination of these raises when there was no longer a need to 
compensate the officers and business agents for their campaign 
donation supports an inference that the increases voted in 
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October 1996 were linked to the need to use the earlier approved 
bonus to finance their campaign. 

3. Whether the 1996 compensation increases 
were reasonable 

In its submission, counsel also argued that the bonuses 
and salary increase were reasonable, generally consistent with 
prior practice and for the legitimate benefit of the local. (Ex. 
65 at 9-10; Ex. 9 at 2-4). The submission contained a graph 
reflecting that the combined 1996 salary and bonuses' increases 
were the lowest annual percentage increase from 1984 through 
1996. (Ex. 9 at Ex. D). The submission also explained the October 
1996 Executive Board doubling of the Christmas Bonus on the 
ground that it was the first change in the Christmas Bonus 
formula since 1985. There was no explanation as to why there 
was any need to change the formula that year. Indeed, in 1997 
the increased Christmas Bonus formula was not continued and, 
unlike in 1996, the Christmas Bonus was not issued until 
December. 

4. Whether the Local's assets constituted a 
source of contributions to the Rerun 
Election Campaign 

Counsel argued that because one incumbent Local 337 
officer and business representative out of fifteen did not 
contribute to the incumbents' slate's rerun election campaign, 
the contributions made were not mandatory. Thus, they contend it 
could not be argued that Local assets constituted the source of 
the contributions because the contributions were voluntary. 
Business Representative Hillard testified that he contributed 
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$500 to the Defense Fund in early 1996 and nothing thereafter. 
Hillard further testified he made no contribution to the rerun 
election campaign and was not asked to do so. (Ex. 46 at 21-22). 

Scalf, whom Brennan identified as the manager of the 
Defense Fund, testified that Hillard never made either the $20 
weekly or any lump sum contribution to the Defense Fund. Scalf 
testified Hillard was the only business representative who did 
not make a lump sum contribution to the Local 337 Defense Fund 
for the rerun election. (Ex. 34 at 12). Because Scalf only 
dealt in cash, used no bank account and destroyed all Defense 
Fund records, no Defense Fund records exist to corroborate 
Hillard's or Scalf's claims. 

5. Whether the en masse cashing of bonus checks 
and Distribution of Cash on November 25/ 1996 
was either compelled or inconsistent with 
long-standing Local Union practices 

Counsel argued that no inference of improper conduct 
should be drawn from the en masse cashing of the bonus checks 
because the practice was voluntary and consistent with past 
practice. (Ex. 65. In addition, some testimony also established 
that it was not unusual for Scalf to distribute payroll check 
proceeds at the Local's offices. Scalf testified that he had 
distributed the proceeds from the weekly paychecks to Local 337 
officers and business representatives and clerical employees on 
many occasions. (Ex. 34 at 41). He testified that the Local 
employees routinely had their weekly payroll checks cashed by a 
fellow employee and that he would distribute the proceeds when he 
was around the office. (Id. at 41-42). Brennan also testified 
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that he and others, including Scalf, distributed the proceeds of 
the weekly payroll checks to Local 337 officers and employees. 
(Ex. 3 6 at 38). 

The statement of Myers under oath to the Election 
Officer that Myers distributed only the Christmas Bonus, coupled 
with Myers' statement to the criminal investigators that the plan 
was for Scalf to take contributions directly from the in-lieu-of-
increase bonus cash, undercuts the testimony that in this 
instance, Scalf, who collected and controlled the campaign funds, 
distributed the proceeds incidentally and not to ensure the bonus 
was paid into the Defense Fund. 

6. Whether the Local 337 President canceled the 
$100 per week salary increase upon discovery 
of an unanticipated loss of members 

With regard to the January 1997 termination of the 
October 1996 $100 per week salary increase, counsel argued that 
Brennan acted when he discovered an unanticipated loss of members 
and not because the need to reimburse the board members and 
business representatives for the donations from the "in-lieu-of" 
bonus was finished. (Ex. 65 at 12-13). However, there was no 
documentation identifying the specific members lost or the 
specific employers no longer under contract with the Local which 
resulted in a loss of membership that had not been apparent to 
the board some fifteen weeks earlier when it voted the raise. 
V. ANALYSIS 

A. The Local 337 Executive Board Embezzled Local 
Resources as Part of a Scheme with Increases in 
Salary and in the Christmas Bonus Formula to 
Finance the Incumbent Slate's Rerun Election Campaign 
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The circumstantial evidence supports a prima facie 
charge that the second in-lieu-of-increase payment was a use of 
Local assets to finance Brennan's slate's rerun election 
campaign. The payment was made earlier than the authorized date. 
There was no reason to do this other than to get cash into the 
campaign earlier. The cash for the bonus was distributed by 
Scalf who controlled the slate's campaign fund. To make up for 
this contribution out of the bonus, the Board members voted a 
salary increase and doubled the Christmas bonus. The timing of 
the increased Christmas Bonus, the weekly salary increase, the 
early payment of the second in-lieu-of-increase bonus in November 
1996, the payment of the Christmas bonus before its authorized 
date, the early 1997 termination of the $100 per week raise, the 
1997 reduction in the amount of the Christmas Bonus to the 1995 
level of 2-1/2 weeks salary and the failure to retain records of 
the Defense Fund all corroborate Myers' admission to the criminal 
investigators that the raises were to replace the bonus used for 
the mandatory contribution. The evidence supports the conclusion 
that Local resources were diverted to the personal benefit, the 
campaign fund, of the board members. 

Moreover, Brennan's stated reason for rescinding the 
raise in January 1997 appears to have been known to him at least 
by October when the raise was voted on. The rescission took 
place in violation of the Local's Bylaws without Board approval 
or protest. This suggests that the action had been pre-ordained. 
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This also corroborates Myers' explanation to the criminal 
investigators that the actual purpose of the October increase was 
to replace the second in-lieu-of-increase bonus used for a 
contribution. 

If the officers used the second part of the in-lieu-of-
increase bonus to fund the campaign and then took additional 
Local assets to replace it for themselves through the temporary 
salary increase and the increased Christmas bonus there would be 
a violation of 29 U.S.C.§ 481(g) and their fiduciary duties. As 
fiduciaries, they had a duty to hold the Local's money and 
property solely for the benefit of the organization. See 29 
U.S.C. Section 501(a). By using the Local's money to be used to 
fund their personal campaign expenses, the Executive Board 
members breached their fiduciary duties to the Local's members by 
spending Local money for personal benefit, as opposed to the 
benefit of the union. See United States v. Local 560. supra, 780 
F.2d 267, 284; Morrisev v. Curran. 650 F.2d 1267, 1274 (2d Cir. 
1981); Farrington v. Benjamin, 468 F. Supp. 343, 350-51 (E.D. 
Mich. 1979). 

Minutes of the April 21, 1996 general membership 
meeting reflected that Local President Brennan told the Executive 
Board of rumors of a rerun election being ordered and that then 
IBT General President Carey was out to destroy the Local. Prior 
to that meeting, the Local 337 Executive Board had approved the 
issuance of the traditional in-lieu-of-increase bonus, but for 
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the first time directed that it be paid in two payments.32 The 
1996 in-lieu-of-increase payment was a larger amount than the 
year before. 

On October 4, 1996, less than two days after the GEB 
Meeting at which the GEB determined a rerun election was 
necessary, the Local 337 Executive Board doubled the traditional 
Christmas Bonus for Local officers and business representatives 
and increased their salary by $100 per week.33 It then paid out 
the second part of the bonus on November 25, 1996, earlier than 
the previously authorized but unspecified date of December 1996. 
This was used for donations. The Christmas bonus was paid on 
November 25, 1996, earlier than the authorized date of December 
6, 1996 to replace the bonus used for the mandatory contribution. 

Unlike the in-lieu-of-increase bonus, which had 
occurred in the past, the doubling of the Christmas Bonus and the 
$100 per week raise were unprecedented. The formula for the 
Christmas Bonus had remained the same since 1985. There was no 
reason given to increase it. The in-lieu-of-increase bonus had 
already been increased that year. Even under the old formula, 
the $100 increase in salary would have added $250 to the 

32 At a Special Called Executive Board Meeting on November 20, 
1996, the Local 337 Executive Board also voted for a second time 
to approve the withdrawal of funds for payment of the Christmas 
Bonuses. (Ex. 28). This led to an early payment of the bonus. 

33 The weekly salary increase lasted from October 18, 1996 
until January 10, 1997. The Executive Board had previously 
approved salary increases when the officers and business 
representatives got an in-lieu-of-increase bonus in only one year 
(1992). In that instance, the pay raise started at the first pay 
period in January, not in the middle of October. (Ex. 9). 
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Christmas bonus. The salary increase was only the second salary 
increase voted since the in-lieu-of-increase bonus originated in 
1989 . 

These October increases were voted on when the Local 
337 Executive Board was on notice that the appeal from the denial 
of the Jordan protests, which could result in a rerun election, 
was pending before the GEB because the GEB had requested the 
transcripts and exhibits of the Joint Council proceedings. (Ex. 
66). Since the Executive Board members were aware that the GEB 
had requested these transcripts and exhibits and that the GEB 
held quarterly meetings, (id.), an inference can be drawn that on 
October 4, 1996 the Local 337 Executive Board had a belief there 
would be a rerun election, particularly given Brennan's statement 
at the April 21, 1996 general membership meeting of the rumor of 
a rerun election being ordered and Scalf's statement as to the 
belief among Local officers of imminent action by the Carey 
administration. 

The money realized through the doubling of the 
Christmas bonus and the $100 per week pay raise was sufficient to 
offset; the $2,000 lump sum contribution the officers and business 
representatives made to the Defense Fund to cover the costs of 
their reelection campaign, including taxes paid on it. As a 
result of the change in formula, the 1996 increase in the 
Christmas Bonus ranged from $1,500 to $3,500 per individual. It 
totalled approximately $32,000. (Ex. 67). The increase of $100 
per week in salary lasted for thirteen weeks for a gross total of 
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$1,300 per recipient. (Ex. 68, 69 and 30). Thus, individual 
officers and business representatives received increases in gross 
amounts totaling from $2,800 to $4,800. Even considering taxes 
required to be paid, these raises left a net amount which allowed 
the officers and business representatives to make a $2,000 
contribution to the local officer rerun election campaign at 
little or no cost to themselves. 

The timing of events and other circumstantial evidence 
corroborate Myers' statement to the criminal investigators that 
the Executive Board approved the $100 weekly salary increase to 
make up for the officers' and representatives' giving up the 
second piece of the in-lieu-of-increase bonus as a campaign 
contribution. The increased Christmas bonus was paid in late 
November 1996, before the scheduled date the Executive Board 
fixed when it doubled the Christmas Bonus. (Exs. 4 and 7). The 
increased Christmas Bonus was also paid less than one week after 
the Special Called Executive Board Meeting authorizing the 
withdrawal of general fund monies to pay for the Local's expenses 
for the rerun election. The increased Christmas Bonus and $100 
raise applied only in 1996. In 1997, the Local 337 Executive 
Board reduced the Christmas Bonus to its pre-1996 level. (Ex. 
53) . 

In January 1997, Brennan rescinded the $100 per week 
pay raise which the Local 3 37 Executive Board granted on October 
4, 1996. Brennan asserted that he rescinded the raise due to a 
substantial reduction of members in the months following October 
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1996. Yet, this membership loss appears to have been anticipated 
earlier. At the October membership meeting, Brennan had 
announced that Local 337 would lose 600 members that year. (Ex. 
48) . 

The incumbents had a long standing Defense Fund. The 
officers and business representatives testified that for years 
they had made cash contributions of $20 every week into the 
Defense Fund. This was sufficient to cover the costs of the 
first campaign. In their testimony, the officers and business 
representatives asserted, with one exception, to have contributed 
a separate donation of at least $2,000 each to the Defense Fund 
to finance the Local 337 rerun election. This contribution was 
unusual and the expenses it was to cover recently arose and could 
not be covered out of the remaining fund of $20 weekly 
contributions. All of these large contributions were in cash. 
Five of the officers and business representatives claimed that 
the source of the $2,000 contribution was cash kept at home 34, 
on their person35 or from gambling winnings.36 So many 
unverifiable cash contributions are suspicious. In sum, the 
officers and business representatives claimed to have contributed 
approximately $30,000 in total to the Defense Fund in 1996 
specifically for the rerun election, and another $20 per week per 

Scalf (desk) , Townsend (cabinet), Walker (safe) . 

Barnes (wallet). 

Brennan. 

34 

35 

36 

34 



person totaling approximately an additional $15,000 each year. 
Thus, from 1996 to date, the officers and business 
representatives have contributed approximately $105,000 to the 
Defense Fund. All these donations were allegedly in cash. 

No documentation of these contributions exists. No 
records of any expenditures have been preserved. Scalf, who was 
responsible for the Defense Fund from 1995 to 1998, claimed he 
did not retain any records because the rerun election was over. 
(Ex. 34 at 15). Scalf's explanation for not having a bank 
account was that the IBT could have seized the Defense Fund 
assets. Scalf's explanations for not keeping records and not 
maintaining a bank account are unpersuasive and misleading. As 
he well knew, the IBT could not seize non-union assets. Because 
Scalf did not maintain a bank account for the Defense Fund 
moneys, records from a third party, such as a financial 
institution, were unavailable. Thus Scalf ensured along with the 
alleged practice of exclusively cash contributions that the use 
and source of the money could never be traced. He, thus, was the 
only source of explaining how much money was raised and spent. 
By intentionally not keeping records he could not demonstrate to 
donors or any outside authority what had happened to the money. 

The testimony further revealed that no reports or 
accounting of the Defense Fund moneys had been provided to the 
Local officers and business representatives who had contributed 
to the Defense Fund. Scalf, through destroying the records, 
rendered himself unable to demonstrate to any donor how he used 
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the money. The inference should be drawn that the officers 
wanted to prevent the possibility that the source or use of their 
cash hoard could be traced. From this deliberate concealment an 
inference can be drawn that they were aware they were misapplying 
Local assets. 

B. The Local 337 Executive Board Misapplied Local 

Resources to Finance Their Rerun Election Campaign 

The circumstantial evidence discussed above also 
supports a prima facie allegation that the Local 337 Executive 
Board doubled the traditional Christmas Bonus and initiated a 
weekly salary increase in 1996 to provide extra money for the 
officers and business representatives to reimburse themselves for 
contributions made for their campaign in the Local 337 rerun 
election. This conduct constituted a misapplication of Local 
Union resources in violation of Title 29, United States Code, 
Section 481(g). 

Title 29 U S.C. § 481 (g) provides: 
No money received by any labor organization by 
way of dues, assessments, or similar levy, and no 
moneys of an employer shall be contributed or 
applied to promote the candidacy of any person in 
any election subject to the provisions of this 
subchapter. Such moneys of £. labor organization 
may be utilized for notices, factual statements of 
issues not involving candidates, and other expenses 
necessary for the holding of an election. 

VI. PROPOSED CHARGES 

Based upon the foregoing, it is recommended that Local 
337 President Lawrence B. Brennan, Secretary-Treasurer Colonel W. 
Myers, Vice President Robert F. Holmes, Recording Secretary Frank 
Walker, Trustee Richard Gremaud and former Trustee Charles Isom 
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be charged as follows: 
While a member of the Executive Board of Local 337, you 

brought reproach upon the IBT in violation of Article II, Section 
2(a) and Article XIX, Section 7(b)(1) and (2) of the IBT 
Constitution and breached your fiduciary duties to members by 
applying moneys received by Local 337 by way of dues, assessment 
and other similar levies to promote the candidacy of individual 
persons in a local election, to wit: 

From on or about April 15, 1996 through February 8, 
1997, as a Local 337 Executive Board member, you misapplied 
moneys the Local received from members' dues and assessments to 
promote the candidacy of the incumbent Local 337 officers' slate 
in the 1997 Local Union 337 Local Officer Rerun Election, and 
schemed to disguise this conduct through apparently legitimate 
bonuses and raises. On April 15, 1996, you voted an in-lieu-of-
increase-bonus which was payable in two parts, the second part 
payable in December 1996. On October 4, 1996, you increased the 
annual Christmas Bonus from the 2-1/2 weeks pay that had been 
awarded in previous years to five weeks pay, payable on December 
6, 1996, and authorized a salary increase of one hundred dollars 
per week, commencing October 18, 1996. On November 25, 1996, you 
made the in-lieu-of-increase bonus and increased Christmas Bonus 
payments earlier than authorized to replace the payments you and 
other business representatives made from the second in-lieu-of-
increase bonus to finance your re-election campaign in the 1997 
Local Union 337 Local Officer Rerun Election. 
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EXHIBITS ACCOMPANYING THE LOCAL 337 OFFICERS REPORT 

Number Description 
No. 1 Order Of United States District Judge Nancy G. Edmunds 

dated March 24, 2000 in In Re Grand Jury Investigation, 
Docket No. Misc. No. 99-74935A (U.S.D.C. E.D. Mich., 
Southern Division) 

No. 2 Joint Council 43 Decision dated March 22, 1996 denying 
the Local 337 Election protest of Local 337 member 
Robert Jordan 

No. 3 Minutes of Meeting of Executive Board of Local 337 
dated April 15, 1996 

No. 4 Minutes of Meeting of Executive Board of Local 337 
dated October 4, 1996 

No. 5 Checks numbered 039856 through 039869 dated August 15, 
1996 on the Teamster Local Union No. 337 account at the 
NBD Bank, N.A., Trumbull-Porter Office Branch 77, 
Detroit, Michigan [representing the first payment of 
the 1996 in-lieu-of-wage-increase bonus] 

No. 6 Checks numbered 040601 through 040616 dated November 
25, 1996 on the Teamster Local Union No. 337 account 
at the NBD Bank, N.A., Trumbull-Porter Office Branch 
77, Detroit, Michigan [representing the second payment 
of the 1996 in-lieu-of-wage-increase bonus] 

No. 7 Checks numbered 040617 through 040632 dated November 
25, 1996 on the Teamster Local Union No. 337 account 
at the NBD Bank, N.A., Trumbull-Porter Office Branch 
77, Detroit, Michigan [representing the Christmas 
bonus payment] 

No. 8 Minutes of Meeting of the general membership of 
Local 337 dated April 21, 1996 

No. 9 Submission of counsel for Local 337 Executive Board 
dated July 22, 1999 

No. 10 Minutes of Meeting of Executive Board of Local 337 
dated August 16, 1996 

No. 11 Minutes of Meeting of the general membership of 
Local 337 dated September 15, 1996 

No. 12 Letter to Robert Jordan and the Local 337 Executive 
Board dated October 9, 1996 from IBT General Secretary-
Treasurer Tom Sever 
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Letter to IBT General President Ronald Carey dated 
October 4, 1996 from the Department of Labor Office of 
Labor-Management Standards with Statement of Reasons 
Local 337 Verified Complaint in Local 337 v. IBT et 
al., Docket No. 9 6-7 54 2 2(U.S.D.C. E.D.Mich.)(ADT) 
Letter dated September 24, 1996 from IBT General 
Counsel Scott to General Executive Board Members 
Letter dated September 25, 1996 from IBT General 
Counsel Scott to General Executive Board Members 
Letter to the Chief Investigator's Office dated 
February 15, 1999 from Gerry M. Miller, Esq. 
Excerpt from Agenda, IBT General Executive Board 
Meeting, September 30 - October 2, 1996 
Excerpt from Minutes, IBT General Executive Board 
Meeting, September 30 - October 2, 1996 
Letter to the Chief Investigator's Office dated 
April 16, 1999 from Gerry M. Miller, Esq. 
Minutes of Meeting of the general membership of 
Local 337 dated October 20, 1996 
Form LM-2, Labor Organization Annual Report, for Local 
Union 337 for 1995 
Form LM-2, Labor Organization Annual Report, for Local 
Union 337 for 1996 
Letter to IBT General Secretary-Treasurer Tom Sever 
dated October 31, 1996 from Local 337 President 
Lawrence Brennan 
Letter to the Detroit District Director of the 
Department of Labor Office of Labor-Management 
Standards dated November 5, 1996 from counsel for 
Local 3 37 
Letter to counsel for Local 337 dated November 12, 1996 
from the Detroit District Director, Department of Labor 
Office of Labor-Management Standards 
Letter to Local 337 President Lawrence Brennan dated 
November 15, 1996 from IBT General President Ron Carey 
Minutes of Special Called Meeting of Executive Board of 
Local 337 dated November 20, 1996 
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Vice President Robert F. Holmes 
and Former Member Thomas Werthmann 
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Dear Mr. Brennan: 
The Independent Review Board has reviewed your supplemental 

decision of March 13, 2000, in the above-captioned matter, and 
finds the decision to be not inadequate. 
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Members of 

view Board 
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Administrator 
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BEFORE THE EXECUTIVE BOARD OF 

TEAMSTERS LOCAL UNION NO. 337 

In The Matter Of The Charges Filed By 
COLONEL W. MYERS 

Against 

EOBSST P. HOU4ES and 
THOMAS WERTHHANN 

Charges Dated: July 23, 1999 
Hearings Held; August 6, 1999 
Decision Dated: November 23, 1999 
supplemental Decision Dated: March 13, 2000 

This supplemental decision follows the return of these 

matters for reconsideration by the Independent Review Board 

(IRB) , 



1. Procedural Background. 
On November 23, 1999, following receipt of the IRB's ten-day 

letter dated November 15, 1999, Local 337fs Executive Board 
issued a written decision which contained written findings 
setting forth the specific actions' taken and the reasons for 
those actions. More specifically, we found that the charges 
against former member Thomas Werthmann should be dismissed and 
that the charges against Local 337 Vice President Robert F. 
Holmes should be sustained, but only to the extent that they 
allege that he violated Local 337's Bylaws in connection with the 
Local Union's bargaining relationship with Shar Vending, for 
which a ten-day suspension from his Union employment was found to 
be an appropriate penalty. 

On January 28, 2000, IRB advised Local 337 President Larry 
Brennan that the November 23 decision was 'inadequate," citing 
three areas in which the decision was considered unacceptable, 
and returned the matter for reconsideration. On February 9, 
2000, Brother Brennan forwarded to IRB a sworn statement 
indicating that the matter would be reconsidered by Local 337's 
Executive Board not later than March 9, 2000 and that a written 
supplemental decision would issue not later than March 15, 2000. 
After discussing the matter with the i r b ' s chief investigator, 
counsel for Local 337 notified IRB that it was not the intention 
of Local 337 to conduct a de novo evidentiary hearing but, 
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instead, to meet to reconsider its earlier decision, as IRB had 
directed. 

On February 17, 2000 IRB Administrator John J, Cronin, Jr., 
advised Brennan that Local 337 had failed to comply with the IRB 
Rules' requirement that written findings setting forth the 
specific action taken and the reasons for that action be issued 
within 90 days of the IRB's referral, and directed the Local 
Union to do so within seven days. On February 21, 2000, Local 
Union counsel communicated with Mr. Cronin, enumerating the 
actions taken by Local 337 to comply with the IRB rules following 
referral of the proposed charges on July 15, 1999. In this 
regard, charges were filed, as directed by IRB, an evidentiary 
hearing was conducted, as directed by IRB, and, on November 23, 
1999, a decision was issued setting forth specific action taken 
and the reasons for that action. More than two months later, IRB 
directed the Local Union to reconsider its decision, which the 
Union advised IRB that it would do. Local 337 also assured IRB 
it would issue a written decision on reconsideration on or before 
March 15, 2000, a deadline that was established to provide an 
adequate opportunity to consider the points raised in IRB1" s 
January 28 letter. 

On March 2, 2000, the Executive Board of Local 337 met to 
reconsider its earlier ruling and now issues this written 
decision. 
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2. Issues Raised By IRB. 
The IRB's January 28, 2000, decision concludes that the 

Executive Board's decision dismissing the charges against former 
Local 337 member Werthmann and certain of the charges against 
Local 337 Vice President Robert F. Holmes was "inadequate." 

3. Supplemental Findings and Actions. 

A. General standards for imposing discipline. 
We do not dispute IRB's authority to interpret the IBT 

Constitution. We are, however, concerned about the possible 
unfairness of imposing serious and stigmatizing discipline 
against two persons, one of whom has been a member in good 
standing and respected Local Union official for more than three 
decades, based on standards that are continuing to evolve in IRB 
decisions and which may not be entirely congruent with principles 
developed in other areas of labor law. Furthermore, we cannot 
fail to stress that the 'sham contract" and *sham membership" 
allegations that are presently before us arise in circumstances 
that are completely devoid of any suggestion of improper self 
dealing by a Union official, unlawful impairment of members' 
rights, associations with organized crime or other forms of 
corruption forbidden by the Consent Decree, 

In either case, we are mindful and sensitive to the 
obligation of every member of the IBT to "eradicate corruption 
from the IBT." United States v. Teamsters, 803 F.Supp. S06, 814 
(S.D.N.Y. 1992) . We are also mindful and sensitive, however, to 

3 



the requirement of Title I of the Labor Management Reporting and 
Disclosure Act that union disciplinary proceedings be conducted 
fairly and in accordance with traditional notions of due process. 
E.g., 29 USC Sec. 411 (a)(5). Imposing discipline against a 
member based on vague, uncertain or contradictory criteria, 
allied retroactively to conduct occurring prior to the 
development of the applicable standards, could raise questions 
about our faithfulness to principles of due process and fairness. 
E.g., Semancik v. United Mine Workers, 466 F.2d. 144 (3d Cir. 
1992). 

In reviewing the issues presented in these matters, we have 
endeavored to respect both the obligations imposed by the Consent 
Decree and the need for fairness and due process in considering 
the disciplinary charges against former member Werthmann and 
Brother Holmes. 

B. IRB's standards for identifying *sham contracts." 
IRB's current decisions regarding 'sham contract" and *sham 

membership" issues appear for the roost part to have involved 
situations in which there were explicit concerns about improper 
organized crime associations, Chieco v. Teamsters, 156 LRRM 3175 
(S.D.N.Y. 1997), for example, involved Local 1034, a pervasively 
corrupt and mob infiltrated Local Union in New York. IRB's 
decision concerning Local 377 and its former Recording Secretary 
and Business Agent, Jerry Morrison, explicitly condemned the use 
of a "sham contract" to facilitate improper associations with 

4 



organised crime figures. Similarly, IRB's decision involving 
Local 813, the successor to Local 1034,and former members Michael 
A. Marabello, Michael Generoso, Jr., and Vincent Generoso, 
articulates serious concerns about the use of a "sham contract" 
to facilitate improper associations with members of the Genovese 

organized crime family. 
ii" .',' 

These and other decisions by IRB, however, leave some 
uncertainty about how *sham contract" and *sham membership" 
issues should be resolved in situations, such as this one, in 
which there are no allegations of self dealing by Union 
officials, no hint of organized crime associations, and no 
allegations of other forms of corruption prohibited by the 
Consent Decree. 

Among the questions for which we have been unable to find 
clear answers are the following: 

* Is it per se improper for an owner or supervisor 
to be permitted to become or remain a member of 
the Union? 

* Is it per se improper for an owner or supervisor 
to be covered by a labor contract with the Union? 

* Is the line between permissible and impermissible 

conduct crossed when an owner or supervisor is 

permitted to become a participant or beneficiary 

of a Union-sponsored Taft-Hartley benefit fund? 
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* Is a contract rendered a *sham" when it is not 
duly ratified by employees who are covered by it? 

* Is the failure of a Local Union aggressively to 
police and enforce a contract sufficient by itself 
to render a contract 'sham"? 

* Is it per se improper for a Local Union to enter 
into a collective bargaining relationship with an 
employer without an initial manifestation of 
assent to this by a majority of the employer's 
employees? 

* Must there be additional evidence of illegal 
corruption, such as ties to organized crime, self 
dealing by a Union official or other corruption, 
for a contract to be a sham? 

The fact that there are no clear answers to these questions, 
and were no clear answers to them when the conduct that is before 
us occurred, has been taken into account in determining the 
appropriateness of discipline and the magnitude of discipline in 
the present cases. 

C. The Werthmann Related Charges. 
Our decision to dismiss the Werthmann-related charges of 

*3ham membership" and *sham contract" was rejected by IRB because 
the NLRB cases and U.S. Department of Labor regulations, which we 
cited to show an overall lack of consistency in doctrine, 
nonetheless require that there be certain limitations on the 
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involvement of employer and supervisor members in internal union 
affairs, and these limitations were no- formally adopted by the 
Local Union when Werthmann was admitted as a member. IRB further 
rejected our view of the Werthmann contract because Werthmann, 
the owner and employer, was the sole member and had no other 
employees to be covered by the contract, and because the IRB 
disagreed with the Local Union's interpretation of Article XIV, 
saction 3 of the IBT Constitution. 

We have reconsidered our decision concerning the 
Werthmann-related charges in light of these criticisms and have 
decided to sustain the charges against both charged parties. 
Although we are advised that the U.S. Supreme.Court has held that 
"in the absence of provisions calling explicitly for illegal 
conduct, the contract cannot be held illegal because it failed 
affirmatively to disclaim all illegal objectives,"1 we will 
incorporate and memorialize the legal restrictions on employer 
and supervisory memberships and other pertinent matters into a 
formal Executive Board resolution and into our Local Union 
election of officers rules. Proposed guidelines for this purpose 
are attached as Exhibit A and will be applied to all contracts 
and bargaining relationships that were the subject of IRB sworn 
examinations. 

K NLRB v. News Syndicate Co., Inc., 365 U.S. 695, 699-700 
(1961), 
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We acknowledge, of course, that IRB has more authority than 
we to interpret the IBT Constitution and will therefore no longer 
press our construction of Article XIV, Section 3. 

We will sustain the charges of sham membership and sham 
contract in the Werthmann-related charges for several reasons. 
The Werthmann relationship is of relatively recent origin. The 
first contract was executed in January Of 1997, Although the 
contract arguably contemplated the eventual employment of 
employees, the owner and employer was the only member ever 
covered by the contract or ever employed by the company. For his 
part, Werthmann did not work, and had not worked, in an industry 
in which Local 337 or other Teamster Locals have traditionally 
represented employees. It seems clear that Werthmann entered into 
the agreement to enhance his relationships with unionized firms 
with which he does business. More importantly, it appears that 
Brother Holmes was aware that this was the purpose of the 
contract which was never really honored or intended to be 
enforced. Finally, although we are unaware of any evidence 
suggesting that there was another corrupt purpose behind this 
relationship, it nonetheless created the potential for improperly 
skewing the democratic process and possibly engendering 
corruption in the Local Union. We will consider the penalties 
for the violations by Werthmann and Brother Holmes later in this 
decision. 
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B. The Shar Vending-Related Charges, 
IRB rejected our decision that the Shar Vending collective 

bargaining agreement was not a "sham contract" because of Holmes' 
testimony, from which IRB concluded that Holmes regarded the 
arrangement as a sham, and because IRB concluded that Holmes had 
* colluded" in non-enforcement of the agreement. 

We have reconsidered our decision concerning the Shar 
Vending relationship, but have decided not to reverse our 
decision that the Shar Vending-related charges against Holmes 
should be sustained only insofar as they allege violations of 
Local 337Ts Bylaws. Preliminarily, we note that IRB appears to 
have accepted our view that *sham memberships" are not at issue 
here. Although the IRB's proposed charges were based on the 
claim that Holmes entered into a sham contract in order to permit 
the mother and husband of the owner *to fraudulently obtain 
membership[s] in Local 337," IRB's January 28 letter appears to 
accept our conclusions (1) that nothing in Article XIV, Section 3 
of the IBT Constitution prohibits Stella Chetosky or Chester 
Czernel from being members of Local 3372 and (2) that Brother 
Holmes had nothing to do with their obtaining or maintaining 
membership in the Local Union in the first instance.3 

2 Although they are in the same family, neither are owners 
of Shar Vending. 

3 They became Local 337 members by transferring from former 
Local 985 many years before Holmes was assigned to Shar Vending. 
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Elimination of the sham and fraudulent membership allegations 
diminishes the severity of the misconduct asserted in the Shar 
Vending related charges. 

Furthermore, IRB's discussion of the Shar Vending 
arrangement in the January 28 letter appears to center on Brother 
Holmes' perceptions about and passivity in administering Local 
337 's relationship with Shar Vending rather than on whether the 
labor agreement that these parties reduced to writing and signed 
was valid and legally enforceable. Thus, we understand the 
essence of a charge of "sham" contract to mean that the agreement 
was not genuine, counterfeit or false.' If we are correct on 
this point, there is little doubt that Holmes signed a legal and 
valid contract. 

We are advised that the courts have consistently rejected 
employer defenses to contract enforcement actions seeking payment 
of delinquent fringe benefit contributions premised on asserted 
union passivity or collusion, such as (1) that the union 
abandoned or acquiesced in the employer's past violations,5 (2) 
that the bargaining parties did not intend to require fringe 

4 Webster's Third International Dictionary, at 2086; 
Black's Law Dictionary, 3ra ed. at 1233. 

6 Benson v. Brower's Moving & Storage, Inc., 907 F.2d 310 
{2nd Cir. 1990) [claim that Local 814, IBT had abandoned contracts 
by non-enforcement no defense to recovery on behalf of 12 non-
maiabers covered by contracts; owner had made contributions and 
forwarded union dues only on behalf of two family members]. 
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benefit payments on behalf of everyone,6 (3) that oral 
representations were made by the union to the effect that the 
employer could simply disregard the text of the contract,7 and 
(4) that there was a lack of majority status when the contract 
was entered into.8 In other words, federal courts consider a 
contract1zo be valid, binding and enforceable even though the 
union may have been less than diligent, aggressive, or 
straightforward in negotiating, honoring and enforcing it. 

IRB also asserts that Holmes 'colluded" in the non-
enforcement of the Shar Vending contract by allowing the employer 
to exclude a non-family member, Edward Masiak, from membership 
because of the cost of making health insurance contributions on 
his behalf. However, the charges IRB proposed did not allege 
that Holmes engaged in collusion with Shar Vending's owner to 
exclude Masiak from membership and health insurance; rather, they 

6 Central States, etc. Pension Fund v. Gerber Truck Serv., 
Inc., 870 F,2d 1148 (7th Cir. 1989) (en banc) [verbal agreement 
"with union agent to make contributions only on three drivers 
hired from acquired company no bar to recovery on behalf of 18 
others]. 

1 Teamsters Local 348 Health & Welfare Fund v. Kohn 
Beverage Co., 749 F.2d 315 (6th Cir. 1984) [union's refusal to 
take strikebreakers into membership despite union shop clause and 
principal officer's statement that they would not be eligible for 
benefits no bar to recovery of contributions due on their behalf 
under labor agreement]. 

8 Agathos v. Starlite Motel, 977 F.2d 1500 (3rd Cir. 
1992) [union agreement that employer pay contributions on only two 
of as many as ten employees no defense to recovery]; Central 
States v. Gerber Truck, supra, 870 F.2d at 1153. 
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alleged merely that this happened "without protest" from Holmes. 
We infer that there was no charge of this kind because we have 
searched the record in vain for any evidence that Holmes made any 
agreement with the employer, to deprive Masiak of membership 
and/or health insurance.9 According to Stella Chetowski, the 
only persons"responsible for Masiak being out of the Union and 
excluded from the health insurance were the employer 
representatives who paid the health insurance premiums.10 Holmes 
gave undisputed testimony that he never received a complaint from 
any Shar Vending member about this.11 

In sum, we are not persuaded that Brother Holmes' passivity 
in administering the bargaining relationship, including his 
violation of Local 337's Bylaws in allowing the contract to renew 
without consulting with the members covered by it, resulted in an 
agreement that was sham, counterfeit, or unenforceable. Unlike 

9 Collusion denotes a "secret agreement" Webster* s Third 
International Dictionary, supra, at 446. 'A secret combination, 
conspiracy, or concert of action between two or more persons for 
fraudulent or deceitful purpose." Blacks Law Dictionary, supra, 
at 240, 

10 *They took Ed off because they couldn't afford to pay 
his insurance, so I don't think Ed has sick. He used to work for 
them, but I think he's out of the union. Insurance is getting to 
them, you know." (Exh. 9 at 7) 

11 As we previously found, the record is not clear as to 
whether Masiak continued working for Shar Vending after 
withdrawing from membership in Local 337. We will attempt to 
resolve that uncertainty, and create the opportunity to 
demonstrate the validity of the Shar Vending contract, by asking 
the Michigan Conference of Teamsters Welfare Fund to conduct an 
audit of Shar Vending'® books and records. 
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the Werthmann contract, the Shar Vending agreement had a long 
history, covered rank-and-file members, including at least one 
non-family member, and applied to persons performing work in an 
industry in which Local 337 and other Teamster locals across the 
country-have.traditionally exercised jurisdiction. Although we 

i >i - ^ 

have not condoned, and do not condone, the manner in which Holmes 
administered and viewed the Shar Vending arrangement, we cannot 
conclude that either the memberships or the contract were '"sham," 
as charged. 

4. Conclusions. 
We have now found that Thomas Werthmann, a withdrawn member 

of Local 337, violated Article XIX, Section (7)(b)(2)of the IBT 
Constitution because he brought reproach upon the Union by 
entering into a sham contract and obtaining a sham membership in 
the Local Union. Since the contract expired on January 2, 2000, 
and has not been renewed, no further relief appears to be 
warranted to address the *sham contract" violation. With respect 
to the 'sham membership", charge, we will apply the same penalty 
to Werthmann that our Joint Council applied in an earlier case 
and permanently bar him from membership in the IBT, 

We have previously found that Brother Holmes violated cited 
sections of Local 337's Bylaws and therefore Article XIX, Section 
7(b) (1) of the IBT Constitution in connection with the Shar 
Vending-related charges which warranted a ten-day suspension from 
his Union employment, with the admonition that future violations 
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will result in further discipline/ up to and including 
termination of his employment. We have now found that Brother 
Holmes also violated Article XIX, Section 7(b) (2) and brought 
reproach upon the Union by entering into a "sham contract" with 
vtferthmann Sales in order to permit Thomas Werthmann to 
fraudulently obtain membership in Local 337. The issue now is 
what additional penalty should be imposed upon Brother Holmes for 
this misconduct. 

As we earlier stated/ we do not understand the Consent 
Decree to have abrogated or modified the legal requirement that 
union disciplinary proceedings be conducted in accordance with 
traditional notions of due process, including fair notice and 
reasonably ascertainable standards of conduct. Semancik v. 
United Mine Workers, 466 F.2d 144, 157 (3rd Cir. 1972) ['fair 
notice of prohibited acts" required in union disciplinary 
procedures]. We also understand that penalties in union 
discipline cases should be fashioned in accordance with the 
principles customarily applied in labor arbitration cases, which 
in most instances require application of the concept of 
progressive discipline,12 and in all cases require that the 
'punishment fit the crime."13 

12 Unless an *extremely serious offense" has been committed, 
arbitrators ^prefer to apply progressive discipline," Elkouri & 
Elkouri, How Arbitration Works, 5th ed., at 916 (BNA, 1997). 

13 In arbitration it is *axiomatic that the degree of 
penalty should be in keeping with the seriousness of the 
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In 1996 or 1997, when Brother Holmes entered into the 
Werthmann agreement, neither the NLRB nor the DQL authorities 
flatly or unconditionally barred employers or supervisors from 
raerabership in unions. Indeed, we do not understand such an 

rrently. Furthermore, in 1996 and 
to 'sham contracts" and 111 sham 

memberships/*' particularly as applied to the negotiation of new 
contracts and the admission of new members, were still inchoate 
and, in almost all cases, had been applied to cases where 
organized crime influence or actual or potential self dealing by 
Union officials were also present. Neither of these elements is 
present in the Werthmann-related charges.14 

In light of these mitigating circumstances as well as 
Brother Holmes'' more than 30 years of otherwise unblemished 
service as a member and official of the Local Union, and in 
accordance with the principles of progressive discipline, we 
conclude that the appropriate penalty to be levied against 
Brother Holmes for his violations of the IBT Constitution and 
Local 337 in the Werthmann related matter is an additional 20 day 
suspension from his Union employment, with the additional 

offense." Capital airlines, Inc., 25 LA 13, 16 (Stowe, 1955). 
14 Nor are they present in the Shar Vending charges either. 

Further, we reiterate that the contract itself establishes that, 
when he signed it, Holmes had some reason to believe that it 
would ultimately cover additional rank-and-file members at a 
later date. 
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admonition that he will be subject to discharge and receive at 
least a si* »onth suspension from employment should he engage in 
sny similar misconduct in the future. 

therefore order that Brother Robert F. Holrces be 
^ m K ^ m m ^ y ^ n t by Local 33"? for a total of 30 days, 

that further violations of the IBT 
constitution or Local 337's Bylaws will be met with further 
discipline, at least a six month suspension and up to and 
including his discharge from Union employment, We also order 
that former Brother Thoraaa Werth»*m« be permanently barred from 
IBX membership. 

Finally, we dismiss the charges that Brother Holmes violated 
the IBT Constitution in connection with the Shar Vending-related 
charges. 

QjUj^j' Sjl LAWRENCE "" President 

h w w m r , Local 331 
» Replacing Vice President 

t F. Holmes 
[CHARD GREKATO, Recording 

Secretary 
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